Role of Interleukin-10 in Lung Repair During Influenza Infection

by

Kristy Dockstader

BSc., Wilfrid Laurier University, 2014

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

(Microbiology and Immunology)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

August 2016

© Kristy Dockstader, 2016

Abstract

The mammalian lung is intricately designed for effective gas exchange. However, infections such as influenza can damage the lung tissue and can cause a critical decrease in lung performance.

Influenza is a single stranded RNA virus from the Orthomyxoviridae family. Seasonal influenza outbreaks cause up to 600 deaths in Canada each year, with increased death tolls during years with pandemic strains. Influenza A virus primarily infects the epithelial cells of the respiratory system and leads to acute respiratory infections.

Tissue destruction occurs both as a result of viral-mediated apoptotic pathways, and as a consequence of the cytolytic immune response that is essential to bring the infection under control. The immune system attempts to minimize damage by producing key anti-inflammatory molecules, of which Interleukin-10 (IL-10) is a particularly potent example.

IL-10 is a pleotropic cytokine that not only functions as an anti-inflammatory cytokine, but has been shown to have a role in immune stimulation, increase cytoskeletal repair and aid in the recovery of epithelial integrity. We hypothesized that IL-10 may have an effect on the remodeling and repair of lung epithelium during and after influenza A virus infection. We determined that IL-10 is up-regulated in response to infection. The timing of increased IL-10 also coincided with the height of damage, inflammation and onset of repair during an influenza infection. We used a human bronchial epithelial cell line (16HBE) to develop a model to assess if IL-10 had a direct effect on epithelial repair. Preliminary data suggested that IL-10 may inhibit epithelial cell proliferation, but further research is required.

ii

Our data suggest that IL-10 does not appear to have a role in direct epithelial proliferation but could still have a role in repair. A better understanding of the signals involved in epithelial cell repair could lead to the development of novel therapies that will minimize/mitigate lung damage caused by influenza, as well as other lung diseases.

Preface

For this project I was responsible for experimental design, execution and data analysis for all experiments under the supervision of Dr. Georgia Perona-Wright. Histological preparation was performed by Ingrid Barta from the Histochemistry Service Laboratory at the University of British Columbia Biomedical Research Centre. Histology slides were analyzed with the help of Dr. Ian Welch at the University of British Columbia Centre for Comparative Medicine. The 16HBE cells line was gift from Dr. Tillie Hackett.

This project required animal ethics approval for the murine influenza model. All experiments were performed in accordance with recommendations from the Canadian council for Animal Care. The Animal Care Committee of the University of British Columbia approved all protocols (A16-0096). Biosafety protocols were approved by the University of British Columbia Biosafety Committee (B16-0018).

Table of Contents

Abstractii				
Prefaceiv				
Table of Contents				
List of Figuresviii				
List of Abbreviationsix				
Acknowledge	ementsxi			
Chapter 1: Iı	ntroduction1			
1.1 Lur	ng Epithelium			
1.1.1	Primary mechanisms of lung protection1			
1.1.2	Lung epithelial cell type differentiation and regeneration			
1.2 Infl	uenza A Virus			
1.2.1	Pathology and disease			
1.2.2	Influenza A virus and the immune response			
1.3 Imp	oortance of Interleukin 10			
1.3.1	Interleukin 10 as an immune suppressant			
1.3.2	IL-10 receptor expression and incorporation			
1.3.3	IL-10 as a pleotropic cytokine			
1.4 Lur	ng Repair During an Influenza Infection			
1.4.1	Repair10			
1.4.2	Key cytokines involved in lung epithelial proliferation and repair			
1.5 Obj	ectives and Hypothesis			
	v			

Chapter 2: Methods		
2.1	In Vivo Influenza Infection Model	
2.1.1	Mouse strains and housing conditions14	
2.1.2	Infection conditions14	
2.1.3	Protein quantification14	
2.1.4	Quantitative RT PCR 15	
2.1.5	Histology16	
2.2	In Vitro Model and Assays 16	
2.2.1	Cell line	
2.2.2	Cell line wounding and stimulation17	
2.2.3	Quantitative RT-PCR17	
2.2.4	Proliferation assay	
Chapter 3	3: Results19	
3.1	Assessing Lung Damage, Inflammation and Repair in an Influenza PR8 Infection 19	
3.1.1	Assessing lung damage 19	
3.1.2	Assessing the inflammatory response to IAV PR8 through cytokine and	
chem	okine expression	
3.1.3	Assessing IL-10 expression in relations to damage and inflammation	
3.1.4	Assessing indicators of epithelial repair	
3.1.5	Visual profile after IAV infection to observe damage, inflammation and repair . 27	
3.1.6	Using a lung epithelial cell line to assess the direct impact of IL-10 on epithelial	
repai	r29	
Chapter 4: Discussion		
	vi	

Bibliography			
	4.4	Future Directions	44
	4.3	Conclusions	43
	4.2	Assessing the Direct Effect of IL-10 on Lung Epithelium	41
	Inflam	nmation	36
	4.1	The Timing of IL-10 Protein Expression Coincides With the Peak of Damage and	

List of Figures

rigure 1-1 Dung epithenal een unterendation	4
Figure 1-2 Interleukin 10 receptor	9
Figure 3-1 Maximum weight loss occurs at day 7 after infection with IAV PR8	
Figure 3-2 Protein concentrations in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid as an indication	n of
pulmonary damage	
Figure 3-3 Pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in the BAL fluid	
Figure 3-4 IL-10 expression in the BAL fluid	
Figure 3-5 Gene expression of known repair markers in the lung during the course	se of an
influenza A PR8 infection	
Figure 3-6 Histopathology of the lung during IAV PR8 infection	
Figure 3-6 Histopathology of the lung during IAV PR8 infection Figure 3-7 IL-10r alpha and beta chain gene expression does not change after wo	
Figure 3-6 Histopathology of the lung during IAV PR8 infection Figure 3-7 IL-10r alpha and beta chain gene expression does not change after wo 16HBE cells	29 unding 31
Figure 3-6 Histopathology of the lung during IAV PR8 infection Figure 3-7 IL-10r alpha and beta chain gene expression does not change after wo 16HBE cells Figure 3-8 Ki-67 expression as an indicator of proliferation and repair	29 unding

List of Abbreviations

AT I	Alveolar type I
AT II	Alveolar type II
BAL	Bronchial alveolar lavage
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
CBA	Cytometric bead array
DC	Dendritic cell
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
EdU	Ethynyl deoxyuridine
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
НА	Hemagglutinin
H&E	Hematoxylin and Eosin
IL	Interleukin
IL-10R	Interleukin 10 receptor
IAV	Influenza A virus
IFNγ	Interferon gamma
MCP-1	Macrophage chemoattractant protein 1
NK	Natural killer
PBS	Phosphate buffered Saline
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PFU	Plaque forming units

PI	Post infection
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RT-qPCR	Reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction
SA	Serum albumin
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor alpha

Acknowledgements

I'd like to start by acknowledging my supervisor and lab mates. Graduate school is made up of many lows and highs. The support, feedback, wealth of knowledge and laughter that I received and shared with Dr. Georgia Perona-Wright, Dr. Stephen Redpath, Nicolette Fonseca and Graham Heieis was paramount to my completion of this degree and helping me stay positive when nothing seemed to be going right. Thank you all for always having my back and being a great lab family.

To my committee members, Dr. Tillie Hackett, Dr. Ninan Abraham and Dr. Pauline Johnson, I would like to say thank you for all of your constructive feedback, advice and for always being willing to offer a good outside perspective.

This project would not have been possible without the funding made possible by both the University of British Columbia and Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada. I was also very fortunate to obtain two fellowship awards, the Aboriginal Graduate Fellowship and the Cordula and Gunter Paetzold Fellowship, that provided funding throughout my Master's program. I would like to give a warm thank you to the Southern First Nations Secretariat, as they have also supported me and provided funding throughout both my undergraduate and graduate degree.

I would also like to thank all my fellow grad students in neighboring labs, many of which offered up great advice for troubleshooting, let me borrow reagents and have made the experience of graduate school not only bearable but enjoyable.

xi

Darlene Birkenhead also deserves a huge thank you. I often refer to Darlene as our departmental Wonder Woman. She has helped me with many scholarships, admin paperwork, general advice and has been a kind and supportive listener throughout my time at UBC.

I would like to thank my family for all their support as well. My parents have always stressed the importance of a good education and taught me to run with the opportunities I have been given. They often had no idea what I was talking about when I called them to vent about a failed experiment or problems with an assay, however, they always sat there patiently and let me ramble, while reminding me that it was not the end of the world.

Finally, I would like to thank all of my friends, both old and new. I have received so much support and love from them and it means the world to me. In particular, there are 3 people I would like to give thanks to and who have seen me through lots of laughter and tears in the last few years. Jake Bartsch has been my confidant and best friend for years. He has spent countless hours listening to my rambling about everything under the sun and I wouldn't have made it through graduate school without his support, advice and positive thinking. I would also like to thank Israel Matos. He was one of the first friends I made here in Vancouver and has been there to laugh with me, laugh at me, and to help pick me up and remind me that everything will be okay when I felt lost with worries. Finally, I would like to say thank you to Carlos Diaz-Salazar. His company has helped make late nights at the lab not so bad. He has been there for so many of the smiles and always offered a shoulder and brownies when the tears came.

Thank you!

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Lung Epithelium

1.1.1 Primary mechanisms of lung protection

The lung is an organ intricately designed to facilitate gas exchange. Large quantities of air are moved in and out of the lung continually and this constant exposure to the outside world puts the lungs at significant risk of infection by pathogens. This high risk area protects itself through multiple layers of defense, such as innate and adaptive immunity, secreted surfactants, and an epithelial barrier.

The lung epithelium acts as a physical barrier between incoming particulates and the blood stream. The cell types found throughout the respiratory tract epithelium undertake a variety of roles that help protect the lungs from infection.

The upper airways are comprised of the nasal passage, the pharynx and the larynx. These sites have the first contact with the outside environment and play a key role in keeping the lower airways clear of harmful debris and pathogens.

The lower airway is important in facilitating the exchange of gases into the blood. It consists of the trachea, bronchi, bronchioles, and alveolar sacs. Collectively these areas form a pulmonary tree-like structure and each site contains specific cell types that serve different functions. In humans, all of the lower airways, excluding the alveolar sacs, are comprised of a pseudostratified epithelium (1). The pseudostratified layer is comprised of ciliated columnar cells, non-ciliated columnar cells, club cells, norendocrine cells, goblet cells and basal cells (1). In the murine airways, only the trachea and main bronchi are pseudostratified and the remaining lower airways are composed of simple columnar and cuboidal cells (1). These many cell types

play an important role in keeping particulate matter and pathogens out of the delicate alveolar sacs.

Ciliated cells form a ciliated elevator that helps move pathogens and other contaminants towards the trachea and out of the lung (2). To facilitate this action, a mucus is secreted from various cells, such as goblet cells. The mucus contains Immunoglobulin A antibodies, lysozyme, lactoferrin and peroxidases, phospholipases and a variety of other proteins (3). The consistency and contents of the mucus act to trap foreign particulates, enhance removal, and act as an extra layer of protection for the epithelial cells. Club cells, which are non-ciliated, non-mucus secreting cells are found in the lower airways as well. Club cells also protect the airway by secreting proteins that aid in detoxifying damaging substances that may enter the lung (4).

In the lower airways within the alveolar sacs, alveolar type I (ATI) and alveolar type 2 (ATII) cells can be found. ATI cells are long flat cells that cover approximately 90-95% of the alveolar surface and are the primary site for gas exchange (5). ATII cells are small cuboidal cells that are also found in the alveolar sacs and are capable of differentiating into ATI cells, making them important in repair after injury.

There are many different types of cells present in the lung epithelium and each type has an important role in lung function and protection from potential risks associated with the outside world.

1.1.2 Lung epithelial cell type differentiation and regeneration

Under homeostatic conditions the lung epithelial layer is relatively stable and has a low turnover rate with less than 2% of epithelial cells proliferating at any given time in both humans and rodents (6-8). Although the rate of proliferation under homeostatic conditions is relatively

low, following an injury to the epithelium, proliferation is increased dramatically in order to repair the delicate tissue (6).

Understanding the differentiation patterns of the different cell types in the lungs is critical in understanding how the lungs are able to remodel and heal after injury or infection. Many lineage-tracing studies have been completed in order to determine the differentiation and regenerative patterns for the different cell types found in the different parts of the pulmonary tract. In the pseudostratified layers of the trachea and main bronchi, basal cells have been shown to give rise to club cells, non-ciliated columnar cells and ciliated columnar cells (9). Club cells have been shown to be self-renewing after injury or ablation and are further capable of giving rise to ciliated cells (10).

When damage to the alveolar epithelium occurs, it can lead to decreased gas exchange and increased risk of secondary infections. When damage occurs here, ATII cells are able to begin proliferating and differentiating into ATI type cells and replace the damaged epithelium (11). They are also able to self-renew to replenish their own population (12).

Recently, a new stem cell population in the lungs has been described that was observed to play a role in lung repair of the alveolar sacs following injury from an influenza infection (13,14). This stem cell population was shown to migrate to the alveoli and help replenish ATI cells, ATII cells and bronchial secretory cells.

The epithelial barrier plays an important role in gas exchange and protection against infection. When damage occurs to this barrier it must be repaired quickly. Progenitor cells and stem cells are capable of proliferation and differentiation into specific cell types that make up the lung epithelium and allow for rapid repair.



Figure 1-1 Lung epithelial cell differentiation

Many of the major lung epithelial cells have multiple pathways for population regeneration after damage or injury. Basal cells, club cells and ATII cells are all capable of self-renewal. Basal cells are able to give rise to many different epithelial cells within the bronchi and trachea and are found throughout. ATII cells are capable of differentiating into ATI cells and are positioned at the edges of the alveolar sacs. A new type of stem cell has recently been found and is capable of differentiating into club cells, ATII cells and ATI cells in times of injury.

1.2 Influenza A Virus

1.2.1 Pathology and disease

Influenza A virus is an airborne virus that causes severe respiratory infection (15). Influenza is a major health problem in Canada and internationally, with annual outbreaks that result in up to 8,000 hospitalizations and as many as 600 deaths in Canada each year (16) Through rapid replication and budding, the virus is able to spread quickly from cell to cell within the lungs. This form of infection leads to the activation of both the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system, which co-ordinate to reduce viral replication (17).

Damage to the lung epithelium can occur because of two main factors, the influenza virus and the immune response. The viral genome contains instructions for proteins, such as NS1 and PB1-F2, which are capable of manipulating intrinsic and extrinsic epithelial apoptotic pathways and disrupting epithelial tight junction integrity (18-20).

Immune cells such as cytotoxic T cells and NK cells also damage the epithelial barrier through cytotoxic cell killing of infected cells. In addition, exuberant production of proinflammatory cytokines by both innate and adaptive immune cells can be toxic to epithelial cells (21).

1.2.2 Influenza A virus and the immune response

The initiation and regulation of an appropriate immune response requires the coordinated action of multiple immune and non-immune cell types. One key mechanism of communication between these diverse cell populations is the use of secreted signaling molecules called cytokines. Specific cytokines are known to be involved in immune responses to different types of pathogens. Influenza is an intracellular viral infection and promotes a "Th1 type response". This

response is pro-inflammatory and is characterized by high expression of the cytokine, interferon gamma (IFN γ) (22). IFN γ is a cytokine that plays a key role in mediating innate and adaptive immunity. It is important in activating macrophages and upregulating major histocompatibility complex II molecules on antigen presenting cells (23).

Influenza A virus enters and infects epithelial cells in the upper and lower respiratory tract. Influenza is a single stranded RNA virus. Therefore, once in the cytoplasm of infected cells, it stimulates pattern recognition receptors such as Toll-like receptors, retinoic acid-inducible gene-I-like receptors and Nod-like receptors on and within the epithelial cells (24,25). Stimulation of these receptors causes epithelial cells to up-regulate major histocompatibility complex class one proteins and secrete Type I interferons and other cytokines to initiate the antiviral response.

Resident macrophages are able to capture virus before it even enters epithelial cells. These macrophages then secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, in order to recruit more immune cell backup. Viral antigen can also be displayed on major histocompatibility complex II molecules, to be presented to T cells later in the response. Other innate immune cells, such as neutrophils, dendritic cells (DC) and monocytes are then recruited to the site of infection to assist in the restriction of viral replication (26). Once present at the site of infection, neutrophils and DCs phagocytose viral particles. DCs process these particles and travel to the lymph nodes where they display the viral antigens via the major histocompatibility class I and class II molecules to T cells. T cells undergo activation and expansion in the lymph node and migrate to the site of infection.

B cells play an important role in helping to clear the infection. They are able to secrete neutralizing antibodies that can bind directly to the Hemagglutinin (HA) protein portion of viral

particles (27). HA is the main protein involved in cell entry for the virus. Neutralizing antibodies help reduce infectivity of extracellular viral particles and allows them to be phagocytosed and destroyed by other immune cells such as macrophages. B cells are also able to assist in antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (28). Antibodies are secreted and bind to viral particles expressed on the surface of infected cells. This allows cytotoxic effector cells to easily recognize infected cells and kill them.

T effector cells are also very important for viral clearance. T cells play many roles in the clearance of IAV. T cells become activated and proliferate in the draining lymph node after they have been presented viral antigen by antigen presenting cells, usually DCs. They then migrate to the area of infection. T cells are able to both kill infected cells as well as produce many important cytokines used for inflammation, inflammatory attenuation, T cell proliferation, cell survival, and differentiation (29). CD8+ T cells are able to kill infected cells that express influenza specific antigen on MHC I molecules on their surface. CD4+ T cells secrete cytokines that increase the proliferation of T cells and B cells, as well as direct the CD8+ T cell response and cause B cells to secrete neutralizing antibodies (30).

Viral clearance is a complex process that involves many cell types and cross communication between these cells. Both the innate and adaptive responses are necessary for clearance of Influenza. Although the immune response is essential, it also can lead to host damage and therefore must be tightly regulated.

1.3 Importance of Interleukin 10

1.3.1 Interleukin 10 as an immune suppressant

IL-10 is a potent immunosuppressive cytokine that is important in maintaining balance during an immune response. Mice deficient in IL-10 expression die of inflammation in the lungs shortly after being infected with influenza (31, 32). Under steady-state conditions, IL-10 is secreted by alveolar macrophages, interstitial dendritic cells and lung epithelial cells into the airways of the lungs to maintain tolerance to environmental antigens and irritants (31, 32). During a viral infection IL-10 is upregulated to help control the inflammatory response. During acute influenza infection, CD4+ and CD8+ cells are the primary producers of IL-10 (33).

1.3.2 IL-10 receptor expression and incorporation

IL-10 signals to its target cells through the IL-10 receptor, which is made up of two molecules each of an alpha and a beta chain (34). The beta chain is incorporated into the IL-10 receptor but is also as part of the receptor for IL-22, IL-26 and IL-28 (35). The alpha chain portion of the IL-10 receptor is only known at present to be incorporated into the receptor for IL-10. IL-10 is a critical cytokine in immune-regulation and the IL-10 receptors are expressed on many cells throughout the body, but there is some debate as to whether or not it is expressed on lung epithelium (36, 37). Our lab has observed IL-10R expression on epithelial cells of C57BL/6 mice (unpublished).



Figure 1-2 Interleukin 10 receptor

The IL-10 receptor is a multi-subunit receptor, consisting of IL-10 receptor alpha chains and IL-10 receptor beta chains. IL-10 receptor alpha chain is only known to be incorporated into the IL-10 receptor, however the beta chains are incorporated into other receptors such as the receptor for IL-22.

1.3.3 IL-10 as a pleotropic cytokine

IL-10 is frequently regarded as an immunosuppressant, but it is actually a pleotropic cytokine with differing function depending on the environment. IL-10 has been shown to have chemoattractant effects for CD8+ cytotoxic T cells and up-regulates E-selectin on endothelial cells (38, 39). IL-10 has been shown to stimulate natural killer (NK) cells to enhance cytotoxic

function (40,41). This stimulating effect on NK cells has been suggested to help decrease tumorigenesis and metastasis (41). IL-10 has also been examined in the context of wound healing. A study by Kieran et al., found that IL-10 was able to reduce scarring and decrease healing time for cutaneous wounds in rats, mice and humans (42). The authors suggested that this was due to both to reduced inflammation at the wounded site, as well as the ability of IL-10 to attenuate fibrosis (43,44).

Obtaining viable lungs for transplantation is a problem in modern healthcare practices. In a study by Cypel *et al.*, damaged human lungs from organ donors were extracted from their original hosts and kept alive using an *ex vivo* lung perfusion method. Ten sets of lungs were used. All lungs underwent the *ex vivo* lung perfusion. Five sets of lungs were not treated with the IL-10 gene therapy and 5 lungs were treated with the IL-10 gene therapy for 12 hours. After 12 hours, Cypel and his colleagues observed reduced inflammation, increased cytoskeletal repair, improved lung function and recovery of alveolar epithelial integrity in the IL-10 gene therapy treated lungs compared to untreated controls (45). Given these studies and the known pleotropic nature of IL-10, it is possible that anti-inflammatory molecules, such as IL-10, can also target cells outside the immune system, including epithelial cells.

1.4 Lung Repair During an Influenza Infection

1.4.1 Repair

As mentioned in section 1.1, damage to the epithelial layer can happen in two main ways during an influenza infection: via virus-mediated pathways or by way of the immune system. In both cases, repair must occur rapidly in order to reduce morbidity and mortality. Repair signals are tightly regulated and vary depending on the type of damage, where the damage occurs and additional variables such as acute or chronic exposure to inflammation.

1.4.2 Key cytokines involved in lung epithelial proliferation and repair

Several cytokines have already been identified as playing a role in the repair process of lung epithelium, including Interleukin-22 (IL-22), epidermal growth factor (EGF) and amphiregulin.

IL-22 has been shown to induce both proliferation and anti-apoptotic pathways in pulmonary epithelial cells (46). IL-22 is secreted by NK cells and multiple subsets of T helper cells (47). IL-22 is known to act on epithelial cells in the lung and gut, which express the IL-22 receptor (35). The IL-22 receptor is a multi-subunit receptor that is comprised of the IL-10R beta chain and the IL-22 receptor 1 chain.

EGF is another cytokine that is known to promote epithelial repair. EGF has been shown to stimulate proliferation of alveolar type II cells *in vitro* (48). The EGF receptor (EGFR) is expressed on the epithelium at low levels, and after damage the production of EGF has been shown to increase the expression of both EGF and EGFR, initiating a positive feedback loop (49). Sources of EGF include epithelial cells throughout the airways, as well as peribronchiolar interstitial cells and endothelial cells in the blood vessels (49).

In addition to IL-22 and EGF, a lesser-known cytokine, amphiregulin, has recently also been suggested to play a role in the repair of lung tissue after an influenza infection (50). Amphiregulin is secreted by innate lymphoid cells in the lung and, like EGF, it is a ligand of the EGFR. Amphiregulin was shown to restore lung function and promote tissue remodeling after an influenza infection (50).

New functions for different cytokines are constantly being discovered. It is possible that additional cytokines play important roles in epithelial repair but have yet to be explored. The focus of my thesis was to assess whether IL-10 also influences epithelial repair.

1.5 Objectives and Hypothesis

Damage caused during an IAV infection, by the immune system and the virus, can lead to loss of epithelial barrier integrity and consequent secondary infection or decrease in lung function, resulting in morbidity and mortality. Lung repair is essential for survival during and after an influenza infection. Several cytokines necessary for epithelial repair have already been observed but it is likely that others also contribute. IL-10 is a pleotropic cytokine that is known to reduce inflammation and has been seen to improve epithelial barrier integrity after damage (46). I am interested in examining the impact of IL-10 in epithelial repair during an influenza infection. I hypothesize that the immune signal IL-10 promotes the remodeling and repair of lung epithelium during and after infection with influenza A virus. The objective of my thesis was to assess the direct impact of IL-10 and related cytokines on lung epithelial tissue in regards to damage and repair during influenza infection.

Many molecules have been examined for a potential role in lung repair, such as IL-22, EGF, and several microRNAs (46, 49, 51), but a role for IL-10 in lung repair has not been thoroughly studied. To test my hypothesis, it was first necessary to establish a working model that allowed me to determine the timeline of damage, inflammation and repair during an IAV infection, and to assess whether IL-10 protein expression coincided with any of these processes. Having established a correlation between IL-10 expression and epithelial damage and repair, I next assessed whether IL-10 had a direct impact on epithelial cell proliferation. Understanding

the impact and role that IL-10 signals have on infection-related damage and lung tissue repair could facilitate the design of future therapies that better balance viral clearance and lung repair during acute influenza infection.

Chapter 2: Methods

2.1 In Vivo Influenza Infection Model

2.1.1 Mouse strains and housing conditions

Mice were housed at the University of British Columbia (UBC) Centre for Disease Modeling. C57BL/6 mice used were sex-matched and aged-matched within each experiment, and were used at between 6-10 weeks for all experiments. Experimental protocols were approved by the UBC Animal Care Committee and Biosafety Committee. Mice were kept on a 12-hour day/night cycle and were fed standard lab chow. Dietgel recovery food was provided to all mice on the cage floor for the first 7 days post infection.

2.1.2 Infection conditions

Mice were deeply anesthetized with isoflurane and infected intranasally with 10 plaqueforming units of Influenza Virus A/PR/8/34 (H1N1) in 20µl of sterile PBS. Naïve mice were mock-infected and given 20µl of sterile PBS. Virus was grown in Dr. David Woodland's laboratory at the Trudeau Institute, NY, frozen and transported to UBC under PHAC import permit # N-12-0214. Stock was titrated in the Perona-Wright laboratory at UBC using plaque assays in MDCK cells.

2.1.3 Protein quantification

BAL fluid was collected in 0.5mL of sterile PBS and stored at -80°C. Total protein concentration in BAL fluid was assessed using the Pierce BCA Protein Assay Kit, according to the manufacturer's protocol. Samples were run on a VictorX5 2030 multilabel reader at

wavelength 560nm. Serum albumin concentration in the BAL fluid was assessed using Mouse Albumin Elisa Quantification Set, using the manufacturer's protocol with slight modifications as follows: PBS with 10% newborn calf serum was used as the blocking solution and as sample diluent, and PBS with 0.05%Tween20 was used as wash buffer. Samples were run on a BioRad iMark Microplate reader at wavelength 450nm, using BioRad microplate manager software. The protein concentrations of the inflammatory cytokines $TNF-\alpha$, $IFN\gamma$, MCP-1 and IL-6, and IL-10 protein concentrations, in BAL fluid were assessed using the BD Bioscience Cytometric Bead Array Mouse Inflammation kit. Samples were run on a BD Bioscience FACS Canto and analyzed using FlowJo software. Geometric means were assessed and plotted using GraphPad Prism.

2.1.4 Quantitative RT PCR

Lung tissue was harvested and stored in RNAlater RNA stabilization reagent (Qiagen) at 4°C, before being homogenized in lysis buffer using TissueLyser LT (Qiagen) for 3-5 minutes, and then centrifuged at 13 000 rpm for 5 minutes. and centrifuged. Supernatant was collected and RNA was extracted following the manufacturer's instructions for the RNeasy Mini Kit (Quiagen). cDNA was prepared using the iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad). RT-qPCR samples were prepared using Bio-Rad SsoFast EverGreen Supermix and run on Bio-Rad CFX96 Real Time System. The primers used were as follows:

5'- GTGTTCCTACCCCCAATGTG-3' (GAPDH forward),

5'-ATTGTCATACCAGGAAATGA-3' (GAPDH reverse),

5'-ATCGATTTCTCCCCTGTGAA-3' (IL-10 forward),

5'-TTCGGAGAGAGGGTACAAAC-3' (IL-10 reverse),

5'-GTAGAGAGGAAGGTGTCTGGG-3' (EGF forward),
5'-GGATCCACTGCTATATTTGACGG-3' (EGF reverse),
5'-GCCTTAGCCATCCTGTCCAA-3' (EGFR forward),
5'-TGCTCGGATGGCTCTGTAAG -3'(EGFR reverse),
5'-GCAGATACATCGAGAAACCTGG-3' (amphiregulin forward),
5'-CGAGGATGATGGCAGAGACA-3' (amphiregulin reverse).

2.1.5 Histology

Lungs were insufflated using 4% paraformaldehyde and harvested whole. Lungs were stored in 4%PFA for two days and then switched to 70% Ethanol. Lung lobes were embedded in paraffin blocks and sections from each lobe were taken 200-500µm apart. Slides were stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Samples were embedded, sectioned and stained by Ingrid Barta at the Histochemistry Service Laboratory at the University of British Columbia Biomedical Research Centre.

2.2 In Vitro Model and Assays

2.2.1 Cell line

Cell line, 16HBE (Human Bronchial Epithelial cells), were generously gifted from Dr. Tillie Hackett (Centre of Heart Lung Innovation, Vancouver, BC, Canada) and Dr. Bob Hancock (University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada). This cell line was originally isolated and transformed using a Simian Vacuolating Virus 40 plasmid by Dr. D.C. Gruenert (University of California, San Francisco, California, USA) (52), and has been used to study forms of lung disease, damage and repair such as those found in cystic fibrosis and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma (52-54). Cells were cultured Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) with 10% FCS and 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin antibiotics at 37 degrees Celsius with 5% carbon dioxide.

2.2.2 Cell line wounding and stimulation

Cells were plated in 6 well tissue culture plates in DMEM (10% FCS and 1% Penstrep) and grown until 95-100% confluence. Cells were serum starved in DMEM (0.02% FCS and 1% Penstrep) for 18-24 hours and then switched back to media with 10% FCS and left to rest for 1 hour at 37°C. Six wounds were made using a 200µl pipette tip and cells were stimulated with or without recombinant IL-10 (25ng/mL) or IL-22 (10ng/mL) and left to incubate for the indicated amount of time at 37°C with 5% CO₂.

2.2.3 Quantitative RT-PCR

Cells were scraped from 6 well plates and collected in lysis buffer. Cells were mechanically lysed using Qiashredder columns (Qiagen). RNA was then extracted by following the manufacturer's instructions for RNeasy Mini Kit (Quiagen). cDNA was prepared using iScript cDNA synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad). RT-qPCR samples were prepared using Bio-Rad SsoFast EverGreen Supermix and run on Bio-Rad CFX96 Real Time System. IL-10 receptor alpha and beta expression was assessed using the following primers:

5'- GCGAATGACACATATGAAAGCATC -3' (human IL-10Ra forward),

5'- GAACGTGAAGTTTCCCGGC -3' (human IL-10Ra reverse),

5'-TGACTTTCACAGCTCAGTACCT-3' (human IL-10Rβ forward),

5'-AGGTGATGTTTACCCAGTCTGA-3' (human IL-10Rβ reverse),

5'-CGAAAGCATCTTGAGAGGAACA-3' (human RPS13 forward),

5'-TCGAGCCAAACGGTGAATC-3' (human RPS13 reverse).

RNA from LPS activated macrophages was included as a positive control in experiments measuring expression of the alpha chain. A non-template control was also used in the PCR reaction, using water instead of any cDNA input.

2.2.4 Proliferation assay

Cells were grown, wounded and stimulated as described in section 2.2.1 and 2.2.2. For EdU assays, EdU was added to the media to a concentration of 10µM with or without cytokine stimulants. After 24 hours the media and cytokine stimulant was removed and the cells were washed in sterile PBS. 0.25% Trypsin 1mM EDTA solution was added to remove the cells from the flask. The cells were then transferred to a 5mL facs tube, washed in media, centrifuged for 5 minutes and supernatant was aspirated. Cells were stained with eBioscience Fixable Viability Dye eFluor® 506. They were then fixed, permeablized and stained using Click-iT® Plus EdU Alexa Fluor® 647 Flow Cytometry Assay Kit or BD Pharmigen® PE Mouse Anti-Human Ki-67 set. Manufacturer's protocols were followed. Samples were run on BD FACS Canto and analyzed using FlowJo software.

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Assessing Lung Damage, Inflammation and Repair in an Influenza PR8 Infection

3.1.1 Assessing lung damage

The overall hypothesis of my studies was that the immune signal IL-10 affects the remodeling and repair of lung epithelium during and after infection with influenza A virus. My first aim was to establish an infection model that allowed me to determine the timeline of damage, inflammation and repair during an IAV infection, and to assess whether IL-10 protein expression coincided with any of these processes. My first measure of pathology and disease severity was an assessment of weight loss during infection. C57BL/6 mice were intranasally infected with Influenza A Virus (IAV) PR8 at 10 PFU per mouse and weight changes were recorded as a percentage of each individual's starting weight. The mean weight of the naïve animals remained relatively constant throughout the duration of the experiment with mice remaining at or above their original weight. Weight changes among the infected animals varied but a peak average weight loss was seen at day 7 in both independent experiments. After day 7 post infection (pi) weight began to increase and mice returned to their original weight by day 11 pi (Figure 3-1).



Figure 3-1 Maximum weight loss occurs at day 7 after infection with IAV PR8

Mice were intranasally infected with 10 PFU of Influenza A PR8. Mice were weighed daily from day 6 to day 12 post infection and average weight change was plotted as a percentage of the original weight from day 0. A) Average weight changes of naïve and infected groups of mice for combined data from two independent experiments. B) and C), data from each experiment, illustrated separately B) Average weight changes for naïve and infected groups with standard deviation error bars for experiment number KD14; naïve group n=5, infected group n=25 C) Average weight changes for naïve and infected group n=5, infected group n=5, infected group n=27.

The reduction in mouse weight during influenza suggested that overall health status was most severely affected at day 7 post infection. To assess whether local lung pathology also peaked at the same time, we performed two measures of lung damage: We assessed the concentrations of total protein and a blood specific protein (serum albumin) found in the BAL fluid. An increase in total protein concentration in the BAL fluid suggests damage to the lung epithelium due to cell lysis and/or leakage of blood proteins into the airways. C57BL/6 mice were intranasally infected with IAV PR8 at 10 PFU per mouse. Mice were sacrificed at various time points post infection and BAL fluid was collected for analysis by bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay, to measure total protein, and ELISA, to measure serum albumin. Total protein concentrations were significantly increased in the BAL fluid of infected mice at day 7 pi. By day 10 pi the total protein concentration in the BAL fluid had decreased greatly compared to the concentration seen at day 7 pi. By day 14 pi the total protein concentrations had returned to levels equivalent to those observed in naïve controls.

Since total protein concentration could increase due to factors other than just epithelial damage, such as an increased infiltrating cells, we also measured a more direct indicator of damage. Serum albumin (SA) is a blood specific protein and is not expected to be present in the airways of a normal lung. If damage to the lung epithelium had occurred, however, it would be expected that blood and blood-associated proteins such as SA would leak into the airways. Therefore, we measured SA concentrations in the BAL fluid. Within the BAL there was a significant increase in SA concentrations at day 7 pi. and a return to SA concentrations equivalent to naïve animals by day 14 pi (Figure 3-2).



Serum albumin concentration



Figure 3-2 Protein concentrations in bronchoal veolar lavage fluid as an indication of pulmonary damage

Mice were intranasally infected with 10 PFU of Influenza A PR8. Mice were sacrificed on day 7 pi, day 10 pi, day 14 pi and day 21 pi. BAL fluid was collected and BCA assay and ELISA assay were used determined protein concentrations. A) Total protein concentrations in the BAL fluid of naïve and infected mice at various time points post infection; compilation of 2 independent experiments. ****p<0.0001 and *p=0.0151, by unpaired t test with Welch's correction. B) Concentration serum albumin protein found in the BAL fluid of naïve and infect mice at various time points post infection. ****p<0.0001 and *p=0.0248, by unpaired t test with Welch's correction.

3.1.2 Assessing the inflammatory response to IAV PR8 through cytokine and chemokine

expression

Our data so far suggest that peak lung damage occurs around day 7 of influenza infection. To determine how lung damage correlated with lung inflammation in our model, local concentrations of typical Th1 cytokines were assessed. C57BL/6 mice were intranasally infected with IAV PR8 at 10 PFU per mouse. Influenza infection is commonly associated with a Th1-type immune response, which is characterized by the presence of inflammatory cytokines such as Interferon gamma (IFN γ) and Interleukin-6 (22,55,56). We measured the concentration of each of these cytokines by CBA, as well as another pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α and the

monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, MCP-1 or CCL2 in the BAL of influenza-infected mice and naïve controls (Figure 3-3). In the case that the concentration level of a sample was below the limit of detection, a value of 0 was given. All of the pro-inflammatory cytokines measured showed significant increases in concentration at day 7 pi compared to naïve mice. There was a dramatic decrease in concentration of each of the cytokines measured between days 7 and 10 pi, suggesting that the majority of the inflammatory response had subsided by day 10 pi. Although significantly decreased, TNF- α concentrations remained significantly increased compared to naïve controls at day 10pi and decreased back to naïve concentrations by day 14 pi.

Therefore, our data suggests that after influenza infection, the height of the inflammatory response, defined by maximum pro-inflammatory cytokine production, correlates with the height of damage at day 7 post infection.



Figure 3-3 Pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in the BAL fluid

Mice were intranasally infected with 10 PFU of Influenza A PR8. Mice were sacrificed on day 7 pi, day 10 pi, day 14 pi and day 21 pi. BAL fluid was collected and expression of various proinflammatory cytokines was measured using a cytometric bead array assay. Data is a compilation of 2 independent experiments A) IFN γ protein expression in the BAL fluid of naïve and infected mice. **p=0.0012 by unpaired t test with Welch's correction. B) Interleukin 6 (IL-6) protein expression in the BAL fluid of naïve and infected mice. ***p=0.0002 by unpaired t test with Welch's correction. C) MCP-1 expression in naïve and infected mice. ***p=0.0003 by unpaired t test with Welch's correction. D) TNF- α protein expression in the BAL fluid of naïve and infected mice. ***p=0.0003 by unpaired t test with Welch's correction. D) TNF- α protein expression in the BAL fluid of naïve and infected mice. ***p=0.0003 by unpaired t test with Welch's correction. D) TNF- α protein expression in the BAL fluid of naïve and infected mice. ***p=0.0003 by unpaired t test with Welch's correction. D) TNF- α protein expression in the BAL fluid of naïve and infected mice. ***p=0.0003 by unpaired t test with Welch's correction. D) TNF- α protein expression in the BAL fluid of naïve and infected mice. ***p=0.0001 and *p=0.0484 by unpaired t test with Welch's correction.

3.1.3 Assessing IL-10 expression in relations to damage and inflammation

Given that I hypothesized that IL-10 will be involved in promoting the repair response, I then assessed the expression of IL-10 in relation to the timing of damage, inflammation, and repair. To do this, IL-10 protein concentrations in the BAL fluid were measured by CBA at day 7 pi, day 10 pi, day 14 pi and day 21 pi, to assess the protein expression in relation to damage and inflammation (Figure 3-4). At day 7 pi, IL-10 expression was significantly increased compared to that of naïve controls. By day 10 pi, IL-10 protein concentrations levels had declined back to that of the naïve controls. This time frame of increased IL-10 expression coincides with the indicators of damage and inflammation measured.





Figure 3-4 IL-10 expression in the BAL fluid

Mice were intranasally infected with 10 PFU of Influenza A PR8. Mice were sacrificed on day 7 pi, day 10 pi, day 14 pi and day 21 pi. BAL fluid was collected and expression of various pro-inflammatory cytokines was measured using a CBA assay. Data was analyzed using Flowjo software. Data is a compilation of 2 independent experiments. ***p= 0.0002 by unpaired t test with Welch's correction.

3.1.4 Assessing indicators of epithelial repair

Thus far we have seen a decrease in total protein and serum albumin concentrations by day 10 pi, which indicates that repair is likely occurring. In order to further assess when repair in the lungs occurs during an IAV infection, we use RT-qPCR to analyze gene expression of amphiregulin, epidermal growth factor (EGF) and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), at various time point throughout an infection (Figure 3-5). EGF and amphiregulin have both been shown to stimulate repair in lung epithelial cells (48,50). Amphiregulin did not show any significant changes in gene expression for infected samples compared to naïve controls at any of the time points. Although there was a trend for an increase in *egf* expression at the later time points, this was not significant or seen consistently between repeat experiments.



Figure 3-5 Gene expression of known repair markers in the lung during the course of an influenza A PR8 infection.

Mice were intranasally infected with 10 PFU of Influenza A PR8. Mice were sacrificed on day 7 pi, day 10 pi, day 14 pi and day 21 pi. Lung tissue was extracted and stored in RNAlater at 4°C. RNA was later extracted and reversed transcribed to cDNA at concentration of 20ng/µl for all samples. cDNA was used at a 1/10 dilution. Samples are normalized to GAPDH and are presented relative to a naïve control. A) Gene expression for amphiregulin B) Gene expression for egf C) Gene expression for egfr.

3.1.5 Visual profile after IAV infection to observe damage, inflammation and repair

We wished to confirm our results seen biochemically for inflammation, damage and repair through the use of histology. C57BL/6 mice were intranasally infected with IAV PR8 at 10 PFU per mouse and sacrificed at various time points post infection. Lungs were extracted and preserved in 4% PFA, embedded in paraffin, sectioned and H&E stained. Naïve controls samples were observed to have clear airways without inflammation, as would be expected in healthy lung (Figure 3-6 A&B). Observations for infected samples varied between samples but did reveal some repetitive trends. At day 7 pi the lung samples were seen to have infiltrating mononuclear immune cells (yellow arrow), cell apoptosis (green arrow), debris in the airways (black arrow) and red blood cell leakage into the tissue (orange arrow) (Figure 3-6 C&D). Edema can be seen as the light pink staining found in the interstitial space as well. In samples for day 10 pi, these signs of inflammation had begun to subside. Importantly, there was still some localized inflammation and infiltrating mononuclear immune cells present (yellow arrow). There were also some signs of repair to alveolar epithelial cells (blue arrow) (Figure 3-6F), as evidenced by the enlarged alveolar type II cells. When damage to alveolar type I cells occurs, type II alveolar cells divide and differentiate into type I cells. Dividing type II cells are bigger in size than nondividing type II cells, and also acquire a smooth pale pink/purple colour when H&E stained. We saw evidence of dividing type II cells on day 10 of infection only (Figure 3-6 F). This is direct evidence of pulmonary epithelial repair occurring between days 7 and 10 pi in our model of influenza A infection.



Figure 3-6 Histopathology of the lung during IAV PR8 infection

Mice were intranasal infected with 10PFU of Influenza A PR8. Mice were sacrificed on day 7 pi, day 10 pi, day 14 pi and day 21 pi. Lungs were insufflated with and preserved in 4% paraformaldehyde for 2 days and then transferred to 70% ethanol. Lung lobes were imbedded in paraffin, sectioned and hematoxylin and eosin stained. A-B) H&E stained section of a naïve lung lobe. C-D) H&E stained section of lung on day 7 pi of an IAV PR8 infection. At day 7 pi the lung samples were seen to have infiltrating mononuclear immune cells (yellow arrow), cell apoptosis (green arrow), debris in the airways (black arrow) and red blood cell leakage into the tissue (orange arrow) E-F) H&E stained section of lung on day 10 pi of an IAV PR8 infection. Mononuclear cells can still be seen at day 10 pi (yellow arrow), as well as proliferating ATII cells (blue arrows)

3.1.6 Using a lung epithelial cell line to assess the direct impact of IL-10 on epithelial repair

Our data so far shows that, in our model of IAV, damage is present at day 7 pi and that there must be repair occurring between day 7 and day 10 pi, as protein and serum albumin is no longer present in the BAL fluid. High expression of IL-10 is present at day 7 pi, however has decreased by day 10. This could suggest that IL-10 does not play a direct role in epithelial repair. In order to address whether IL-10 has a direct effect on lung epithelial repair, I used an *in vitro* scratch assay model to assess changes in proliferation in the presence or absence of exogenous IL-10.

A human bronchial epithelial cell line (16HBE) was gifted to our lab from Dr. Tillie Hackett at the Centre for Heart Lung Innovation. Cell lines often undergo changes in gene and protein expression, relative to primary cells, once they have been transformed. Our first concern was to determine that the intended 16HBE cell line expressed the IL-10 receptor chains so that it would be able to respond to IL-10. RT-qPCR was performed to assess the expression of the IL-10R alpha and beta chains (Figure 2-7). Gene expression was normalized to the reference gene Ribosomal Subunit Protein 13, and is presented as relative to the unscratched, negative controls.

The IL-10R beta chain is also a component of other cytokine receptors known to be expressed by epithelial cells, such as the IL-22 receptor. The IL-10R alpha chain has only been shown to be incorporated into the receptor for IL-10. We therefore expected higher expression of the IL-10R beta chain than IL-10R alpha chain, even on resting cells. Both genes were detectable, even on resting cells. Absolute quantification was not performed, but the PCR product for the IL-10R alpha chain only became detachable around cycle 34, while IL-10R beta chain became detectable by cycle 23. Thus, in resting cells, *il10rb* was more highly expressed than *il10ra*, but both gene products were detectable.

We next performed a wounding assay to mimic epithelial damage and tested the hypothesis that IL-10R expression would increase in response to damage. We examined gene expression of *il10ra* and *il10rb* at multiple time points after wounding. Expression of both genes remained detectable throughout the time course, but there were no consistent or significant changes in expression in response to wounding (Figure 2-7).



Figure 3-7 IL-10r alpha and beta chain gene expression does not change after wounding 16HBE cells.

Cells were grown until confluent, serum starved for 24hrs, rested for 30-60 minutes and then scratched. RNA samples were taken at 6 hours, 12 hours, 24 hours, and 38hrs. RNA from LPS activated macrophages were used as a positive control and water non template wells were used as negative controls. A) Gene expression for IL-10R alpha chain measured by RT-qPCR B) Gene expression for IL-10R beta chain measured by RT-qPCR.

Having established that the IL-10 receptor was expressed on our cell line, we next wished to determine if IL-10 was able to enhance epithelial cell proliferation after wounding. Ki-67 is an intracellular protein that accumulates in the nucleus when during all active stages of mitosis (G1 phase, S phase, G2 phase and M phase) and can be used as a biomarker of cell proliferation. We chose to examine the presence of this protein in the 16HBE cell line after wounding, in our scratch assay, to determine the levels of epithelial proliferation involved in this type of wound repair. The cells were wounded and then either treated with IL-10 (25ng/mL), IL-22 (10ng/mL) or left untreated in only serum containing media. Scratched and untreated cells were included as a "naïve" control. IL-22 was used as a positive control, as IL-22 has been shown to stimulate

epithelial cell proliferation (46). Unscratched cells were included to assess background expression of Ki-67 for the cell line. We observed similar Ki-67 protein expression in the unscratched control cells as in the scratched and treated cells: in all samples, between 60-70% of cells were Ki-67 positive (Figure 2-8C). This suggests that the majority of the cells are in a state of active cell cycle, which is likely, given that this cell line has been transformed and that Ki-67 expression is not be the best way to measure proliferation in our assay.



Figure 3-8 Ki-67 expression as an indicator of proliferation and repair

Cells were grown until confluent, serum starved for 18 hours, then scratched and stimulus (IL-10 or IL-22) was added to 10% serum containing media and applied to cells for 24 hours at 37°C. Cells were then stained for Ki-67. Ki-67 expression was assessed by flow cytometry and analysis was performed using FlowJo Software. A) Gating strategy for Ki-67% cells. Debris was first gated out. We then gated on single and live cells. Ki-67 positive populations were then gated on with the help of isotype controls and unstained controls. B) Examples staining for each group. From left to right: unscratched control sample, scratched unstimulated cells, scratched IL-22 (10ng/ml) treated cells and scratched IL-10 (25ng/ml) treated cells. C) Percent of Ki-67 positive cells for each of the 4 groups tested.

EdU is a nucleotide analog that is incorporated into DNA during cellular replication. EdU was chosen to detect epithelial cell proliferation as an alternative to Ki-67. Since EdU is not a natural intracellular protein and rather is only incorporated into cells that have substantially replicated their DNA, we hypothesized that EdU staining would give a more realistic assessment of epithelial proliferation. We found that, in comparison to Ki-67, EdU did show a lower background signal, and scratched and treated cells had higher EdU incorporation compared to the unscratched controls (Figure 3-9).IL-10 stimulated cells were observed to have a significantly decreased EdU incorporation compared to scratched cells treated without any exogenous cytokine.

IL-22 was used as a positive control, as it is known to stimulate epithelial proliferation in vivo (49). Our data showed no increase in EdU incorporation in IL-22-treated cells versus untreated controls. However, this experiment has only been performed once and need to be further optimized and repeated before a conclusive result can be drawn. Therefore, presently we have no evidence to support a direct effect of IL-10 on epithelial cell proliferation after damage.



Figure 3-9 EdU incorporation as an indicator of proliferation and repair

Cells were grown till confluent, serum starved for 18 hours, then wounded. Cells were then scratched and stimulus (IL-10 or IL-22) was added to 10% serum containing media and EdU was added at 10um for 24 hours at 37°C. Cells were then stained for EdU. EdU incorporation was assessed by flow cytometry and analysis was performed using FlowJo Software. A) Gating strategy for EdU positive cells. Debris was first gated out. We then gated on single and live cells. EdU positive populations were then gated on. B) Examples staining for each group. From left to right: unscratched control sample, scratched unstimulated cells, scratched IL-22 (10ng/ml) treated cells and scratched IL-10 (25ng/ml) treated cells. C) Percent of EdU positive cells for each of the four conditions tested. **p= 0.0081 by unpaired t test with Welch's correction.

Chapter 4: Discussion

4.1 The Timing of IL-10 Protein Expression Coincides With the Peak of Damage and Inflammation

The overall aim of my thesis was to determine whether the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10 affected epithelial repair in the lungs during influenza infection. I first compared the timing of pulmonary damage, inflammation and repair with that of IL-10 expression, in a murine model of influenza infection. My data indicate that the peak of IL-10 expression coincides with damage and inflammation. To assess if IL-10 has a direct effect on the proliferation of epithelial cells in response to wounding, I then used a cell line system. The data so far suggest that IL-10 does not directly affect epithelial cell proliferation and may suppress it in this context.

Our first measure of pathology in the murine influenza model was an assessment of weight loss. Tracking weight changes during an IAV infection is a common method used to assess disease severity in murine models (57). We recorded the weight changes of our mice from day 6 to day 12 pi as this time period has been shown in the literature to be the peak of weight loss and recovery (58). In both of my independent *in vivo* experiments, the same protocol for infection was used and day 7 pi was observed to be the peak of weight loss with steady recovery afterwards. Less severe weight was loss observed in the infected mice in my second experiment. The difference between the two experiments is likely due to the increased preemptive health-support measures used in the second experiment, such as providing diet gel (wet food) from the start of the experiment until day 8 pi. Although the severity of weight loss differed, the total protein concentration, SA concentration, and cytokine expression profiles were similar in the two experiments, which suggests similar levels of damage and inflammation occurred in the lungs in both cases. Total protein concentration in the BAL fluid was used as a surrogate measure of

damage because we would expect increased protein concentrations from cell lysis and leakage of blood into the airways after epithelial damage would be expected to deposit multiple proteins in the airways. However, this approach does have some caveats. Since BAL fluid was not centrifuged before testing total protein concentration it is likely the increased total protein concentrations could be due to inflammatory cytokines and other secreted proteins. To address this caveat, a more specific assay was also performed. Serum albumin is a blood specific protein, and thus the detection of SA in the BAL fluid indicates leakage of blood into the airways. The total protein concentrations and SA protein concentration both peaked at day 7pi with a strong decrease by day 10 pi, returning to baseline concentrations. The reduction in both measurements of damage between day 7 and day 10 pi, suggests that an intense repair process is likely occurring within this short time frame. This hypothesis was supported by the damaged epithelium, debris in the airways and the presence of red blood cells in the airway, visible by histology at day 7pi. Sections taken from the lungs of mice at day 10 pi there is reduced debris in the airways, lack of red blood cells in the airway, and notably the first signs of proliferating ATII cells were observed at day 10, indicative of the repair of the alveolar epithelial cells.

In IAV infection, damage to the lung epithelium is caused both by viral replication and by the resulting immune response. We observed that expression of the inflammatory cytokines IFN γ , IL-6, TNF- α and the monocyte chemoattractant MCP-1/CCL2 coincided with our measurements of lung damage: both were significantly increased above baseline at day 7 and had returned to baseline by day 10 pi. In murine models of influenza infection, the innate immune response lasts until approximately day 5pi and the adaptive response occurs between day 5 and day 10 - 11 pi, by which time complete viral clearance is achieved (59,60). By day 7 of an influenza infection mononuclear cells are present at the site of infection and the adaptive immune

response has already been activated. IFN γ acts as a positive-feedback loop for IFN γ expression and aids in the maintenance of commitment to the major Th1 transcription factor, Tbet (61). Both IL-6 and TNF- α are both known to play a role in B cell proliferation, and can also enhance permeability in endothelial vasculature (62-64). MCP-1 is a chemokine that aids in migration and infiltration of monocytes and macrophages. The combination of MCP-1 and IL-6 has also been shown to shift macrophages towards an M2 phenotype, which is important in cleanup and repair processes (65). All of these molecules are important in an adaptive immune response or aid in the restoration and repair processes that are necessary during influenza. Our data confirm that these four inflammatory cytokines peak at day 7 pi, coincident with the measured peak of lung damage, and that they return to baseline by the time that the adaptive immune response is expected to finish.

Our cytokine quantification data for inflammation was also consistent with measures of inflammation used in our histological analysis. Interstitial edema refers to an accumulation of fluid in the interstitial space and is often associated with inflammation. Edema is caused by increased permeability of the endothelial barrier resulting in leakage of fluid from the lymphatic system (63,66). Using hematoxylin and eosin staining, edema can be seen as the light pink staining found in the interstitial space. Since IL-6 was increased at day 7 pi it is not surprising that we also observed interstitial edema at this time as well.

This data, along with the results from our assays measuring lung damage, suggests that the peak of inflammation and damage in this model of influenza occurs by day 7 pi and is greatly resolved, inferring that significant repair has already occurred, by day 10pi. However, it is possible that the peak of inflammation and damage could occur earlier in the infection, but was missed. It would therefore be of interest to examine a time point earlier than day 7pi, such as day

3pi, to examine damage and inflammation as well. First establishing the presence of damage and inflammation was important to ensure that we could later observe resolution of these factors and examine the timeline with regards to IL-10 expression.

We have established that both damage and inflammation were present in our model with a similar timeline to one another. Since we were interested in determining the role of IL-10 on repair, next we assessed the timeline for IL-10 protein expression. IL-10 expression was also seen to peak at day 7 pi. Since IL-10 has already long been established as an important antiinflammatory molecule, the high protein concentration found in the BAL fluid at day 7 pi, during the peak of inflammation, is expected (67). Given that IL-10 peaks at the height of damage and inflammation it might not be involved directly in the repair process. Instead, IL-10 may aid in the initiation of the repair process as well as contribute to limit the inflammatory response.

Our analyses of lung damage and cytokine protein expression suggested that IL-10 expression may coincide with epithelial damage, inflammation and possibly the initiation of repair. However, our measurements of repair were dominated by assays recording a resolution of damage, rather than a direct measures of repair. This problem is also common in the literature (46,50,68). We made efforts to examine epithelial cell repair more directly, by examining the gene expression of growth factors such as amphiregulin and EGF that have been used by other groups to assess the initiation of epithelial cell repair (50, 69).

Both these molecules are ligands of the EGFR, and both have been shown to initiate proliferation of epithelial cells and aid in restoration of epithelial integrity after damage. While we were able to detect gene expression of *areg*, *egf* and *egfr* in all our samples, there was no significant increase in expression of any of these genes, compared to uninfected mice, at any time point of influenza infection. A paper by Monticelli and colleagues reported an increase in

amphiregulin gene expression at day 10 of influenza infection, compared to naïve mice. However, Monticelli's experiments were performed in rag1-deficient mice, and the difference in mouse strains and influenza PR8 dose could possibly lead to discrepancies between our results and theirs. Rag1-deficient mice lack mature adaptive immune cells (70). T effector cells play an important role in attenuating inflammation and damage during an influenza infection (33). Without the adaptive immune response, the Rag1-deficient mice were unable to clear the viral infection and were unable to fully recover (50). Perhaps the intensified and prolonged damage and inflammation sustained in the Rag1 deficient mice led to the substantial increase in amphiregulin expression that was not seen in our model.

During periods of high inflammation there is a large influx of infiltrating proinflammatory cells. It is also possible that the peak expression for amphiregulin, EGF and EGFR may have been missed because RNA for these genes may have been diluted out by infiltrating cells present throughout the infection.

Although we did not detect significant increases in *areg* or *egf* during influenza infection, we were able to observe enlarged cells that were indicative of cellular proliferation by histology at day 10 pi. The proliferation of ATII cells contributes to epithelial repair by providing both new ATII and ATI cells, and is indicated by the emergence of small, rounded ATII intermediates that contrast with the tall, cuboidal structure of mature cells (12,71). Of note, ATII proliferation was not detectable at day 7 pi but was at day 10 pi. This in combination with our other measures of damage resolution, suggests that some aspects of repair occur between day 7 and day 10 pi. In conclusion, my data suggests that IL-10 is present at the peak of damage and inflammation and has decreased by day 10 pi. This could suggest that IL-10 does not have a direct impact on

epithelial cell repair but may still effect lung repair indirectly or affect the initiation of epithelial repair.

4.2 Assessing the Direct Effect of IL-10 on Lung Epithelium

Although IL-10 expression did not appear to coincide with the peak of epithelial repair, I still wanted to further assess if there was any direct impact on epithelial cell proliferation in repair. We used an in vitro assay involving a human bronchial epithelial cell line, 16HBE. Cell lines are a great resource, as they are can be easily grown and are able to simplify complex systems that may be seen in vivo.

We observed ATII proliferation in vivo, however due to necrosis of bronchial epithelial cells observed at day 7 pi and the decrease in airway debris observed by day 10 pi, it is likely that bronchial epithelial cells are proliferating during repair also. Since the ATI and ATII cells make up such a large portion of the lung, it is not unexpected that those cells were easily observed during proliferation. It would be ideal to repeat the proliferation repair assay with other cell types such ATII cells as well.

The 16HBE cells showed measurable expression of both chains of the IL-10 receptor, although the beta chain was more strongly expressed than the alpha chain. These results were perhaps expected, as the beta chain is also a component of the IL-22 and IL-26 receptors, while the alpha chain is unique to the IL-10 R (35). Neither gene was more significantly expressed after influenza infection, compared to uninfected lungs. If IL-10 directly affected epithelial cells in regards to repair, we would expect to see an upregulation of the IL-10R. This could suggest that IL-10 may not have a role directly on lung epithelial cell repair.

However, in order to assess if there is an impact of IL-10 on the proliferation of damaged epithelium, we wounded confluent epithelial sheets mechanically, and measured cell proliferation first by staining for Ki67. Ki-67 is a protein antigen specific to cell cycling and is present in the nucleus of cells in all active phases of the cell cycle except G0, the resting phase (72). We measured Ki-67 protein expression for our wounding assay that had been stimulated with or without IL-10. Negative controls that were not scratched or stimulated were included to determine a baseline level of proliferation for our cell line. We saw high Ki-67 expression in all samples, with 60-70% of cells being Ki-67 positive even in the absence of epithelial wounding. High Ki-67 expression is a prognostic marker for assessing cancer in humans (73). Since 16HBE cells are a transformed cell (52), it is likely that these cells are always in an active cell cycle state and therefore constitutively express Ki-67.

An alternative approach to measuring cell proliferation is to use EdU. EdU is a nucleoside analog that is incorporated into newly synthesized DNA during cellular proliferation (74). Since EdU is not a naturally occurring protein such as Ki-67 is, we would only expect to see EdU in cells that have actually proliferated. This would give a more realistic measurement of background proliferation occurring in the cell line. Using EdU as a measure of proliferation appeared to resolve the high background we observed while using Ki-67.

The scratched unstimulated samples and the IL-22 stimulated samples had significantly different EdU incorporation from each other. In contrast to my hypothesis, IL-10 stimulated cells had decreased EdU incorporation compared to the scratched unstimulated samples. The comparable EdU incorporation between the unstimulated unscratched controls and the IL-22 stimulated samples was slightly unexpected considering IL-22 has been shown to stimulate proliferation in primary human bronchial epithelial cells (75). This data could be due to

differences in performance between primary cells and cell lines or due to differences in IL-22 concentrations used. In our experiments IL-22 was used at a concentration of 10ng/ml, however in this study IL-22 was used at a concentration of 20ng/mL. A titration curve for IL-22 could be performed to determine if the differences are due to differences in concentrations.

In answer to my second aim, IL-10 stimulated cells appeared to have less EdU incorporation compared to control unscratched samples. It is possible that if IL-10 may not enhance epithelial cell proliferation and affect repair in the context of cell migration as opposed to cellular proliferation. Wound healing requires a combination of migration and proliferation. Epithelial cells are capable of collective migration and spread to aid in wound repair (76). It is also possible that IL-10 could actually inhibit proliferation at certain cytokine concentrations. Performing titrations curves for recombinant IL-10 and IL-22 will clarify whether different effects on epithelial proliferation occur at different concentrations of the same cytokine. In addition, the experiment shown in Figure 3-9 has only been performed once and will need to be repeated to ensure reproducibility and statistical significance. However, my initial findings provide no evidence to support my hypothesis that IL-10 can directly affect epithelial cell proliferation. Thus my second aim, in regards to whether IL-10 has a direct effect on lung epithelial repair has not yet been fully addressed and further experiments are required.

4.3 Conclusions

IL-10 is currently known as a potent anti-inflammatory cytokine, but more recently other functions of this pleotropic cytokine have been discovered. Here, I found that the protein expression of IL-10 is increased in response to IAV and the peak of expression coincides with the peak of inflammatory cytokine production. IL-10 expression also coincides with the peak of

alveolar space damage and leakage, but not with resolution of leakage or with other aspects of repair such as the presence of proliferating alveolar type II cells. Our data also suggest that, using influenza PR8 stain in a murine model leads to a repair process that occurs between day 7 and day 10 post infection that resolves and prevents further protein leakage into the alveolar space. Although not many researchers have looked directly at ongoing repair mechanisms, I did this by looking in vivo for evidence of alveolar type II cell proliferation and gene expression of cytokines that stimulate epithelial cell proliferation. Although I did not find a significant increase in egf, egfr or areg gene expression in response to IAV infection, we did see evidence on day 10 for alveolar cell proliferation. This evidence for epithelial cell proliferation occurred at day 10, 3 days after the peak of II-10 expression. To determine if IL-10 was directly affecting this process, I switched to an in vitro wound healing model but found no evidence to support a direct effect of IL-10 on bronchial epithelial cell proliferation. However, there were some caveats with this approach and these experiments need to be reproduced. Overall, I have shown that IL-10 is produced in response to IAV infection with similar kinetics to inflammatory cytokines and the peak of the response occurs at the peak of lung damage. This is followed quickly by alveolar leakage repair and the initiation of alveolar type II cell proliferation. From my data to date, I conclude that IL-10 may play a key role in wound repair mechanisms although whether this is direct or indirect will require more study.

4.4 Future Directions

We have established that IL-10 protein expression coincides with timing of damage in an *in vivo* mouse model. We have also begun to examine the direct effect of IL-10 on repair pulmonary epithelial cell repair through the use of an *in vitro* model using a bronchial epithelial

cell line. Our data thus far suggest that EdU could offer an effective method to measure changes in epithelial cell proliferation following wounding. This assay could potential aid in answering my second aim, as to whether IL-10 has a direct effect on lung repair. This question has not been completely answered yet and further repetition and optimization of this assay are needed in an attempt reduce variability between technical replicates. Titration curves for IL-22 and IL-10 are also needed to ensure that the optimal concentration of cytokine is being used.

Cell lines that have been immortalized often have mutations or changes to key genes involved in cellular proliferation and apoptotic pathways. The immortalization process can therefore change the way that the cells respond to certain stimuli and conditions compared to primary cells. Therefore, in order to achieve results that are more biologically relevant to what is happening to epithelial cells in vivo, while still maintaining a simplified environment, it would be ideal to repeat an EdU wounding assay using primary bronchial epithelial cells also.

The effects of IL-10 on cellular proliferation could also be explored *in vivo*. Experiments performed in our lab have shown that influenza infection is associated with increased epithelial cell proliferation, relative to uninfected controls. However, when IL-10 signaling was blocked using an IL-10 receptor blocking antibody, no differences were observed between groups treated either with the blocking antibody or an isotype matched control. These experiments have only included small pilots and must be repeated and performed with a larger sample size in order to draw confident conclusions.

Our results so far suggest that, although IL-10 appears to coincident with epithelial damage during influenza infection, is does not directly control epithelial cell proliferation. IL-10 could affect cellular migration instead and it would therefore be interesting to examine the effects of IL-10 on cellular migration for wounded cells. This could be accomplished by

wounding cells using real-time microscope imaging and software to track cell movement over time.

It is also possible that IL-10 does not have a direct impact on lung epithelial repair at all but could still affect repair through indirect mechanisms. Many immune cells are known to express the IL-10 receptor and be able to respond to IL-10 (76,77). It is possible that IL-10 may act on epithelial repair indirectly via immune cells such as alveolar macrophages or innate lymphoid cells during and after an infection. This is another aspect we would like to explore.

By understanding the impact and role that IL-10 signals have on infection-related damage and more importantly on lung tissue repair, this research could facilitate the design of future therapies that better enhance viral clearance and facilitate lung repair during acute influenza infection, and during many other damaging lung diseases, such as tuberculosis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma.

Bibliography

- Rock, J. R. and B. L. M. Hogan. 2011. Epithelial Progenitor Cells in Lung Development, Maintenance, Repair, and Disease. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 27: 493-512.
- 2 Wanner, A. 1977. Clinical Aspects of Mucociliary Transport. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 116: 73-125.
- 3 Nicod, L. P. 1999. Pulmonary defense mechanisms. *Respiration* 66: 2-11.
- 4 Rokicki, W., M. Rokicki, J. Wojtacha, and A. Dzeljijli. 2016. The role and importance of club cells (Clara cells) in the pathogenesis of some respiratory diseases. *Pol. J. of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 13: 26-30.
- 5 Chuquimia, O. D., D. H. Petursdottir, N. Periolo, and C. Fernandez. 2013. Alveolar epithelial cells are critical in protection of the respiratory tract by secretion of factors able to modulate the activity of pulmonary macrophages and directly control bacterial growth. *Infect. Immun.* 81: 381-389.
- 6 Ayers, M. M. and P. K. Jeffery. 1988. Proliferation and differentiation in mammalian airway epithelium. *Eur. Respir. J.* 1: 58-80.
- Boers, J. E., den Brok J.L., J. Koudstaal, J. W. Arends, and F. B. Thunnissen. 1996.
 Number and proliferation of neuroendocrine cells in normal human airway epithelium.
 Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 154: 758-763.
- 8 Yahaya, B. 2012. Understanding Cellular Mechanisms Underlying Airway Epithelial Repair: Selecting the Most Appropriate Animal Models. *Scientific World J.* 2012: 961684.
- 9 Kotton, D. N. and E. E. Morrisey. 2014. Lung regeneration: mechanisms, applications and emerging stem cell populations. *Nat. Med.* 20: 822-832.
- 10 Rawlins, E. L. and B. L. M. Hogan. 2006. Epithelia1 stem cells of the lung: privileged few or opportunities for many? *Development* 133: 2455-2465.
- 11 Crosby, L. M. and C. M. Waters. 2010. Epithelial repair mechanisms in the lung. Am. J. Physiol – Lung C. 298: L715-L731.
- 12 Barkauskas, C. E., M. J. Cronce, C. R. Rackley, E. J. Bowie, D. R. Keene, B. R. Stripp, S. H. Randell, P. W. Noble, and B. L. M. Hogan. 2013. Type 2 alveolar cells are stem cells in adult lung. *J. Clin. Invest.* 123: 3025-3036.

- 13 Zuo, W., T. Zhang, D. Z. Wu, S. P. Guan, A. Liew, Y. Yamamoto, X. Wang, S. J. Lim, M. Vincent, M. Lessard, C. P. Crum, W. Xian, and F. McKeon. 2015. p63+Krt5+ distal airway stem cells are essential for lung regeneration. *Nature* 517: 616-620.
- 14 Vaughan, A. E., A. N. Brumwell, Y. Xi, J. E. Gotts, D. G. Brownfield, B. Treutlein, K. Tan, V. Tan, F. C. Liu, M. R. Looney, M. A. Matthay, J. R. Rock, and H. A. Chapman. 2015. Lineage-negative progenitors mobilize to regenerate lung epithelium after major injury. *Nature* 517: 621-625.
- 15 van Riel, D., M. den Bakker A., L. M. E. Leijten, S. Chutinimitkul, V. J. Munster, E. de Wit, G. F. Rimmelzwaan, R. A. M. Fouchier, A. D. M. E. Osterhaus, and T. Kuiken. 2009. Seasonal and Pandemic Human Influenza Viruses Attach Better to Human Upper Respiratory Tract Epithelium than Avian Influenza Viruses. *Am. J. Pathol.* 176: 1614-1618.
- 16 Public Health Agency of Canada. 2016. Reported Influenza Hospitalizations and deaths in Canada: 2011-12 to 2015-16. <u>http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/influenza/flu-stat-eng.php</u>. Retrieved: August 18 2016.
- 17 Kohlmeier, J. E. and D. L. Woodland. 2009. Immunity to Respiratory Viruses. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 27: 61-82.
- 18 Herold, S., S. Ludwig, S. Pleschka, and T. Wolff. 2012. Apoptosis signaling in influenza virus propagation, innate host defense, and lung injury. *J. Leukocyte Biol.* 92: 75-82.
- 19 Short, K. R., J. Kasper, d. A. van, A. C. Andeweg, F. Zaaraoui-Boutahar, M. Goeijenbier, M. Richard, S. Herold, C. Becker, D. P. Scott, R. W. A. L. Limpens, A. J. Koster, M. BÃ_ircena, R. A. M. Fouchier, C. J. Kirkpatrick, and T. Kuiken. 2016. Influenza virus damages the alveolar barrier by disrupting epithelial cell tight junctions. *Eur. Respir. J.* 47: 954-66.
- 20 Dias, A., D. Bouvier, T. Crepin, A. A. McCarthy, D. J. Hart, F. Baudin, S. Cusack, and R. W. H. Ruigrok. 2009. The cap-snatching endonuclease of influenza virus polymerase resides in the PA subunit. *Nature* 458: 914-918.
- 21 Hogner, K., T. Wolff, S. Pleschka, S. Plog, A. D. Gruber, U. Kalinke, H. Walmrath, J. Bodner, S. Gattenlohner, P. Lewe-Schlosser, M. Matrosovich, W. Seeger, J. Lohmeyer,

and S. Herold. 2013. Macrophage-expressed IFN-B Contributes to Apoptotic Alveolar Epithelial Cell Injury in Severe Influenza Virus Pneumonia. *PLoS Pathog* 9: e1003188.

- 22 Berger, A. 2000. Th1 and Th2 responses: what are they? Brit. Med. J. 321: 424-424.
- 23 Mühl, H. and J. Pfeilschifter. 2003. Anti-inflammatory properties of pro-inflammatory interferon-γ. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 3: 1247-1255.
- 24 Herold, S., C. Becker, K. M. Ridge, and G. R. S. Budinger. 2015. Influenza virus-induced lung injury: pathogenesis and implications for treatment. *Eur. Respir. J.* 45: 1463-1478.
- 25 Vareille, M., E. Kieninger, M. R. Edwards, and N. Regamey. 2011. The Airway Epithelium: Soldier in the Fight against Respiratory Viruses. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 24: 210-229.
- 26 Pulendran, B. and M. S. Maddur. 2015. Innate Immune Sensing and Response to Influenza. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 386: 23-71.
- 27 Lofano, G., A. Kumar, O. Finco, G. Del Giudice, and S. Bertholet. 2015. B cells and functional antibody responses to combat influenza. *Front. Immunol.* 6.
- 28 Hashimoto, G., P. F. Wright, and D. T. Karzon. 1983. Antibody-Dependent Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity Against Influenza Virus-Infected Cells. J. Infect. Dis. 148: 785-794.
- 29 Kim, T. S., J. Sun, and T. J. Braciale. T cell responses during influenza infection: getting and keeping control. *Trends Immunol.* 32: 225-231.
- 30 Brown, D. M., E. Román, and S. L. Swain. 2004. CD4 T cell responses to influenza infection. Semin. Immunol. 16: 171-177.
- 31 Thepen, T., G. Kraal, and P. G. Holt. 1994. The Role of Alveolar Macrophages in Regulation of Lung Inflammation. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 725: 200-206.
- 32 Akbari, O., R. H. DeKruyff, and D. T. Umetsu. 2001. Pulmonary dendritic cells producing IL-10 mediate tolerance induced by respiratory exposure to antigen. *Nat. Immunol.* 2: 725-731.
- 33 Sun, J., R. Madan, C. L. Karp, and T. J. Braciale. 2009. Effector T cells control lung inflammation during acute influenza virus infection by producing IL-10. *Nat. Med.* 15: 277-284.

- 34 Walter, M. R. 2014. The Molecular Basis of IL-10 Function: From Receptor Structure to the Onset of Signaling. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 380: 191-212.
- 35 Sonnenberg, G. F., L. A. Fouser, and D. Artis. 2010. Chapter 1 Functional Biology of the IL-22-IL-22R Pathway in Regulating Immunity and Inflammation at Barrier Surfaces. *Adv. Immunol.* 107: 1-29.
- 36 Heuze-Vourc'h, N., L. F. Zhu, Krysan K FAU Batra, Raj,K., B. R. FAU, Sharma S FAU Dubinett, Steven,M., and S. M. Dubinett. 2003. Abnormal interleukin 10Ralpha expression contributes to the maintenance of elevated cyclooxygenase-2 in non-small cell lung cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 3:766-70.
- 37 Lim, S., G. Caramori, K. Tomita, E. Jazrawi, T. Oates, K. F. Chung, P. J. Barnes, and I. M. Adcock. 2004. Differential expression of IL-10 receptor by epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages. *Allergy* 59: 505-514.
- 38 Jinquan, T., C. G. Larsen, B. Gesser, K. Matsushima, and K. Thestrup-Pedersen. 1993. Human IL-10 is a chemoattractant for CD8+ T lymphocytes and an inhibitor of IL-8induced CD4+ T lymphocyte migration. *J. Immunol.* 151: 4545-4551.
- 39 Vora, M., L. I. Romero, and M. A. Karasek. 1996. Interleukin-10 induces E-selectin on small and large blood vessel endothelial cells. J. Exp. Med. 184: 821-829.
- 40 Kundu, N., T. L. Beaty, M. J. Jackson, and A. M. Fulton. 1996. Antimetastatic and Antitumor Activities of Interleukin 10 in a Murine Model of Breast Cancer. J. Natl. Cancer I. 88: 536-541.
- 41 Parato, K. G., A. Kumar, A. D. Badley, J. Sanchez-Dardon, K. A. Chambers, C. D. Young, W. T. Lim, S. Kravcik, D. W. Cameron, and J. B. Angel. 2002. Normalization of natural killer cell function and phenotype with effective anti-HIV therapy and the role of IL-10. *J. Int. AIDS Soc.* 16: 1251-6.
- 42 Kieran, I., A. Knock, J. Bush, K. So, A. Metcalfe, R. Hobson, T. Mason, S. O'Kane, and M. Ferguson. 2013. Interleukin-10 reduces scar formation in both animal and human cutaneous wounds: Results of two preclinical and phase II randomized control studies. *Wound Repair Regen.* 21: 428-436.

- 43 Nelson, D. R., G. Y. Lauwers, J. Y. N. Lau, and G. L. Davis. 2000. Interleukin 10 treatment reduces fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C: A pilot trial of interferon nonresponders. *Gastroenterology* 118: 655-660.
- 44 Arai, T., K. Abe, H. Matsuoka, M. Yoshida, M. Mori, S. Goya, H. Kida, K. Nishino, T. Osaki, I. Tachibana, Y. Kaneda, and S. Hayashi. 2000. Introduction of the interleukin-10 gene into mice inhibited bleomycin-induced lung injury in vivo. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung C*. 278: L914-L922.
- 45 Cypel, M., M. Liu, M. Rubacha, J. C. Yeung, S. Hirayama, M. Anraku, M. Sato, J. Medin, B. L. Davidson, M. de Perrot, T. K. Waddell, A. S. Slutsky, and S. Keshavjee. 2009. Functional Repair of Human Donor Lungs by IL-10 Gene Therapy. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 1: 4ra9.
- 46 Pociask, D. A., E. V. Scheller, S. Mandalapu, K. J. McHugh, R. I. Enelow, C. L. Fattman, J. K. Kolls, and J. F. Alcorn. 2012. IL-22 Is Essential for Lung Epithelial Repair following Influenza Infection. *Am. J. Path.* 182: 1286-1296.
- 47 Wolk, K., S. Kunz, E. Witte, M. Friedrich, K. Asadullah, and R. Sabat. 2004. IL-22 Increases the Innate Immunity of Tissues. *Immunity* 21: 241-254.
- 48 Ryan, R. M., M. M. Mineo-Kuhn, C. M. Kramer, and J. N. Finkelstein. 1994. Growth factors alter neonatal type II alveolar epithelial cell proliferation. *Am. J. Physiol.* 266: L17-22.
- 49 Van Winkle, L.S., J. M. Isaac, and C. G. Plopper. 1997. Distribution of epidermal growth factor receptor and ligands during bronchiolar epithelial repair from naphthalene-induced Clara cell injury in the mouse. *Am. J. Path.* 151: 443-459.
- 50 Monticelli, L. A., G. F. Sonnenberg, M. C. Abt, T. Alenghat, C. G. K. Ziegler, T. A. Doering, J. M. Angelosanto, B. J. Laidlaw, C. Y. Yang, T. Sathaliyawala, M. Kubota, D. Turner, J. M. Diamond, A. W. Goldrath, D. L. Farber, R. G. Collman, E. J. Wherry, and D. Artis. 2011. Innate lymphoid cells promote lung tissue homeostasis following acute influenza virus infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 12: 1045-1054.
- 51 Tan, K. S., H. Choi, X. Jiang, L. Yin, J. E. Seet, V. Patzel, B. P. Engelward, and V. T. Chow. 2014. Micro-RNAs in regenerating lungs: an integrative systems biology analysis of murine influenza pneumonia. *BMC Genomics* 15: 1-13.

- 52 Cozens, A. L., M. J. Yezzi, K. Kunzelmann, T. Ohrui, L. Chin, K. Eng, W. E. Finkbeiner, J. H. Widdicombe, and D. C. Gruenert. 1994. CFTR expression and chloride secretion in polarized immortal human bronchial epithelial cells. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 10: 38-47.
- 53 Hackett, T., H. G. de Bruin, F. Shaheen, d. B. van, A. J. van Oosterhout, D. S. Postma, and I. H. Heijink. 2013. Caveolin-1 Controls Airway Epithelial Barrier Function. Implications for Asthma. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 49: 662-671.
- 54 Gao, W., C. Yuan, J. Zhang, L. Li, L. Yu, C. Wiegman, P. Barnes, I. Adcock, M. Huang, and X. Yao. 2015. Klotho expression is reduced in COPD airway epithelial cells: effects on inflammation and oxidant injury. *Clin. Sci.* 129: 1011-1023.
- 55 La Gruta, N. L. and S. J. Turner. T cell mediated immunity to influenza: mechanisms of viral control. *Trends Immunol.* 35: 396-402.
- 56 Grunewald, S. M., Hahm, C., Teufel, M., BrockerGisale Wohlleben, E., Major, T., Moll, H., and Erb, K. J. 2002. Infection with Influenza A Virus Leads to Flu Antigen-Induced Cutaneous Anaphylaxis in Mice. *J. Invest Dermatol.* 118:645-651.
- 57 Bouvier, N. M. and A. C. Lowen. 2010. Animal Models for Influenza Virus Pathogenesis and Transmission. *Viruses* 2: 1530-1563.
- 58 Srivastava, B., P. Blazejewska, M. Hessmann, D. Bruder, R. Geffers, S. Mauel, A. D. Gruber, and K. Schughart. 2009. Host genetic background strongly influences the response to influenza a virus infections. *PLoS One* 4: e4857.
- 59 Sealy, R., S. Surman, J. L. Hurwitz, and C. Coleclough. 2003. Antibody response to influenza infection of mice: different patterns for glycoprotein and nucleocapsid antigens. *Immunology* 108: 431-439.
- 60 Thomas, P. G., Keating R FAU Hulse-Post, Diane, J., Hulse-Post DJ FAU Doherty, Peter, C., and P. C. Doherty. 2006. Cell-mediated protection in influenza infection. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 12:48-54.
- 61 Schoenborn, J. R. and C. B. Wilson. 2007. Regulation of Interferon-γ During Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses. *Adv. Immunol.* 96: 41-101.
- 62 Tormo, A. J., M. C. Letellier, M. Sharma, G. Elson, S. Crabe, and J. F. Gauchat. 2012.IL-6 activates STAT5 in T cells. *Cytokine* 60: 575-582.

- 63 Desai, T. R., N. J. Leeper, K. L. Hynes, and B. L. Gewertz. 2002. Interleukin-6 Causes Endothelial Barrier Dysfunction via the Protein Kinase C Pathway. J. Surg. Res. 104: 118-123.
- 64 Kim, H., J. Hwang, C. Woo, E. Kim, T. Kim, K. Cho, J. Seo, S. Lee, and J. Kim. 2008. TNF-alpha]-induced up-regulation of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 is regulated by a Rac-ROS-dependent cascade in human airway epithelial cells. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 40: 167-175.
- 65 Burkholder, B., R. Huang, R. Burgess, S. Luo, V. S. Jones, W. Zhang, Z. Lv, C. Gao, B. Wang, Y. Zhang, and R. Huang. 2014. Tumor-induced perturbations of cytokines and immune cell networks. *BBA -Rev Cancer* 1845: 182-201.
- 66 Parker, J. C. and M. I. Townsley. 2004. Evaluation of lung injury in rats and mice. *Am. J. Physiol. – Lung C.* 286: L231-L246.
- 67 Murray, P. J. 2005. The primary mechanism of the IL-10-regulated antiinflammatory response is to selectively inhibit transcription. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102: 8686-8691.
- 68 Matsumoto, K., S. Fukuda, Y. Nakamura, and H. Saito. 2009. Amphiregulin Production by Human Eosinophils. *Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol.* 149(suppl 1): 39-44.
- 69 Burgel, P. and J. Nadel. 2004. Roles of epidermal growth factor receptor activation in epithelial cell repair and mucin production in airway epithelium. *Thorax* 59: 992-996.
- Mombaerts, P., J. Iacomini, R. S. Johnson, K. Herrup, S. Tonegawa, and V. E.
 Papaioannou. 1992. RAG-1-deficient mice have no mature B and T lymphocytes. *Cell*. 68: 869-877.
- 71 Desai, T. J., D. G. Brownfield, and M. A. Krasnow. 2014. Alveolar progenitor and stem cells in lung development, renewal and cancer. *Nature* 507: 190-194.
- 72 Scholzen, T. and J. Gerdes. 2000. The Ki-67 protein: from the known and the unknown. J. Cell. Physiol. 182: 311-322.
- 73 Inwald, E. C., M. Klinkhammer-Schalke, F. Hofstadter, F. Zeman, M. Koller, M. Gerstenhauer, and O. Ortmann. 2013. Ki-67 is a prognostic parameter in breast cancer patients: results of a large population-based cohort of a cancer registry. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 139: 539-552.

- 74 Zeng, C., F. Pan, L. A. Jones, M. M. Lim, E. A. Griffin, Y. I. Sheline, M. A. Mintun, D. M. Holtzman, and R. H. Mach. 2010. Evaluation of 5-ethynyl-2'-deoxyuridine staining as a sensitive and reliable method for studying cell proliferation in the adult nervous system. *Brain Res.* 1319C: 21-32.
- 75 Aujla, S. J., Y. R. Chan, M. Zheng, M. Fei, D. J. Askew, D. A. Pociask, T. A. Reinhart, F. McAllister, J. Edeal, K. Gaus, S. Husain, J. L. Kreindler, P. J. Dubin, J. M. Pilewski, M. M. Myerburg, C. A. Mason, Y. Iwakura, and J. K. Kolls. 2008. IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against Gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. *Nat. Med.* 14: 275-281.
- 76 Li, L., Y. He, M. Zhao, and J. Jiang. 2013. Collective cell migration: Implications for wound healing and cancer invasion. *Burns & Trauma* 1: 21-26.
- 77 Moore, K. W., R. de Waal Malefyt, R. L. Coffman, and A. O'Garra. 2001. Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 19: 683-765.
- 78 Couper, K. N., D. G. Blount, and E. M. Riley. 2008. IL-10: The Master Regulator of Immunity to Infection. J. Immunol. 180: 5771-5777.